# Central Regional Hub-funded project

**Project Report** 



Teaching and Learning Circles: Developing Reflective Practice and Enhancing Teaching Culture

Dr Kathryn Sutherland, Dr Irina Elgort, Dr Emma Tennent

February 2020







Research undertaken at Victoria University of Wellington by Dr Kathryn Sutherland, Dr Irina Elgort, Dr Emma Tennent

Published by Ako Aotearoa PO Box 756 Wellington 6140

#### **Acknowledgements**

The research team is very grateful to the Ako Aotearoa Regional Hub Fund for making this research project possible, and to colleagues at the University of Otago for sharing the Teaching and Learning Circles name with us and helping us to devise our research question. In particular, we wish to thank Associate Professor Tim Cooper for the passing conversation about teaching observation that led to both academic development units at Otago and Victoria University of Wellington pursuing research on their peer observation initiatives. We also thank Dr Tracy Rogers, Dr Rob Wass, Dr Julie Timmermans, and Professor Clinton Golding for their collaboration at the HERDSA Conference in July 2019. Finally, we are sincerely appreciative of all the participants in our Teaching and Learning Circles initiative who so willingly and enthusiastically took part in the first circles, and especially those who are carrying on with new circles into the future.



An Ako Aotearoa publication. This project output has been funded by Ako Aotearoa through the Regional Project Fund.









This work is published under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-Share Allike 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-SA 4.0). Under this licence you are free to copy, distribute, display and perform the work as well as to remix, tweak, and build upon this work noncommercially, as long as you credit the author/s and license your new creations under the identical term.

## Contents

Acknowledgements	0
Executive Summary	2
Introduction	3
Background and Context	3
How do Teaching and Learning Circles (TLCs) work?	5
Research Methods	5
Participants	6
Questionnaires	6
Interviews	6
Findings	7
Motivations for joining a TLC	7
Benefits: Moving towards a more collegial teaching culture	8
Benefits: Making changes	9
Challenges	10
Process	12
Conclusions and recommendations	13
Be clear about the purpose	14
Encourage 'snowballing'	14
Be realistic about timing	14
Adaptation elsewhere	15
Appendix One: Questionnaire Statements	16
Appendix Two: Interview questions	17
Appendix Three: Pre-Programme Survey Results	18
References	19

## **Executive Summary**

Teaching and Learning Circles (TLCs) are a facilitated peer observation of teaching professional development opportunity for tertiary teachers. In this report, we describe the successful implementation of a TLCs process at one New Zealand university. We share evidence of the impact of TLCs on collegiality, confidence and competence among participants, and we encourage other tertiary institutions to adapt and apply this approach with their own teaching staff.

TLCs are made up of four teaching staff who observe each other teach, then reflect together through a facilitated process on what they have learned from watching each other in action. The focus is on personal reflection about one's own teaching, rather than on providing feedback to those under observation. We implemented a TLCs initiative at our university with 44 teachers participating in 11 circles over the course of about a year. Two academic staff from the Centre for Academic Development (CAD) facilitated the TLC process. We conducted research on the outcomes of the TLC initiative, during which the two facilitators were interviewed, along with 12 of the 44 participants.

Findings show that TLCs had a positive impact on participating teachers' confidence, gave them opportunities to develop their teaching practice by exposing them to new and different skills, and decreased the sense of isolation that people had been experiencing prior to participating. Encouragingly, the TLC initiative is slowly taking root more widely across the university, through a 'snowball' approach to the formation of future TLCs. Furthermore, it is spreading beyond our own institution, with four different departments in Australian universities adapting the initiative, and at least one other New Zealand tertiary institution.

Summary of recommendations for other institutions considering introducing TLCs:

- Be clear about the purpose (reflection not judgement).
- Consider a snowball approach to creating new TLCs.
- Be realistic about the logistics of timing (facilitators can help with this).

#### Introduction

Finding time to reflect on one's teaching in the fast-paced, multi-faceted New Zealand tertiary environment is not always easy. Competing demands on lecturers' time often mean that professional development in teaching slips to the bottom of the priority list, despite many good intentions. We wanted to create a professional development opportunity for tertiary teachers that would not take up too much of their time and would have positive outcomes for everyone involved. To this end, we developed a facilitated peer observation of teaching process that focuses on reflection and aims to improve teaching confidence and competence and enhance collegiality.

In this report, we describe the initiative itself, called Teaching and Learning Circles, and we investigate its effects on teaching culture (including confidence, competence, and collegiality). We encourage readers to treat this report as a companion piece to the excellent report written by Tracy Rogers and colleagues from the University of Otago (Rogers, Wass, Timmermans, & Golding, 2019). Their report, *A Framework for Enhancing Teaching Culture and Practice*, describes a similar initiative and research project implemented at the same time as the project we describe here. We collaborated with them on the design of our research questions and methods, and we shared the original version of the resource used in the first round of Teaching and Learning Circles. We also plan to share and combine our research findings in a future paper.

In this report, you will find a brief overview of the reasons why a facilitated peer observation opportunity is important. Then, we provide details of the process itself for those who may wish to replicate the initiative in their own institutions. In the Research Methods section, we share what we did to investigate the worthwhileness of the initiative, and then outline our Findings. We conclude the report with some recommendations for anyone wishing to try Teaching and Learning Circles – or something similar – elsewhere. Accompanying this report is a <u>freely downloadable resource</u> which we encourage you to use and adapt for your own contexts.

## **Background and Context**

The majority of academics in New Zealand universities are committed to high quality teaching (Universities New Zealand, 2018), but certification of teaching quality or experience is not a requirement for New Zealand academics. Few academic staff members in New Zealand universities have teaching qualifications, and few report having undertaken in-depth training in teaching (Sutherland, 2018a), despite each university making available (through their own or affiliated programmes) postgraduate level qualifications in university teaching (Universities New Zealand, 2018). Many such postgraduate qualifications, including our own institution's Higher Education Learning and Teaching (HELT) programme, include a thorough peer review of teaching process. Given the small numbers of academics taking such qualifications not all university academics will have undertaken systematic, deliberate, or facilitated peer review of teaching. Accompanying this lack of 'training' in teaching and peer review, is a prevailing culture of 'closed' classrooms, where it is not really commonplace for academics to observe each other teaching, systematically or informally. As one participant in our project noted, "We've no idea what's going on in other people's classes.... I've been here since 1992 and I might've observed colleagues teaching half a dozen times...that's how unusual it is."1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See the Research Methods section for more information on how we gathered data and quotes.

New Zealand universities do not uniformly require peer review of teaching. Examples exist in some universities, including Auckland and Otago (Matear, 2017; Rogers, et al., 2019), but expectations that staff will routinely have their teaching observed and/or reviewed by peers are not widespread, and rubrics for such evaluation are not evident across the country (Matear, 2017). We do not wish to imply that peer review of teaching (for evaluative purposes) *should* be compulsory nationwide. However, we do want to argue in this report for an increased uptake of peer *observation* of teaching as a means of improving teachers' confidence and competence, as well as enhancing collegiality.

We distinguish, therefore, between peer *review* of teaching for evaluative purposes and peer *observation* of teaching for reflective and/or developmental purposes. In this report, we use the term 'peer observation' and, following Rogers, et al (2019, p. 5), we adopt the following definition:

... we define peer observation of teaching as **not requiring the observer to provide feedback on the observed teacher** (see Hendry, Bell, & Thomson, 2014). Peer observation offers teachers ... the opportunity to observe different teaching approaches, question their own knowledge, and reassess their own teaching approach; which may all lead to active self-development [emphasis added].

Plenty of research from around the world shows that peer observation of teaching is beneficial (Bell, 2001) in terms of enhancing collegiality (Hendry, et al., 2014) and making classrooms and teaching more 'open' (Martin & Double, 1998). If the process has a reflective, rather than evaluative focus, it can also be a low-stakes professional development opportunity for time-poor teachers.

Many academics express a desire to spend more time reflecting on their teaching but find it difficult to make time for such reflection when competing aspects of the academic role matter more in terms of climbing the academic career ladder (Sutherland, 2017). Academics also, increasingly, bemoan the loneliness of academic life (Sibai, Figueiredo, & Ferreira, 2019) and express sadness at a perceived loss of collegiality (Macfarlane, 2016) in recent years.

We believed that a facilitated peer observation of teaching process would be an effective way of meeting the need for more flexible professional development in teaching, as well as overcoming some of this isolation. As mentioned earlier, our HELT programme includes a facilitated peer *review* of teaching process, and in our early career programme for new academics (Sutherland, 2018b), we have long run a process of teaching *observation*, modelled on 'teaching squares', an initiative first developed by Anne Wessely at St Louis Community College (Berenson, 2017; Haave, 2018; Rhem, 2003). In 2018, we decided to offer this teaching observation opportunity to more people, so we trialled what we came to call Teaching and Learning Circles (TLCs)<sup>2</sup>. Each TLC at our university comprises four teaching staff who voluntarily sign up to observe each other's teaching and then reflect, through a facilitated process, on what they have learned from their observations. The focus is on learning about one's own teaching not on giving evaluations or reviews of others' teaching.

4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> We thank Tim Cooper, then Associate Dean (Academic) for Humanities at the University of Otago, for sharing this name with us (Rogers, et al, 2019, p. 7).

## How do Teaching and Learning Circles (TLCs) work?

Our accompanying resource describes the process in step-by-step detail, but put simply, it requires the following steps:

- 1) **Pre-observation meeting:** Four interested academics meet with a facilitator from the Centre for Academic Development (CAD) to establish the TLC. Alternatively, the four academics can meet without the CAD facilitator and use the resource pack to guide their TLC process. The initial meeting requires participants to reflect on, then discuss, a series of questions relating to their teaching values and goals, and their hopes for participating in the TLC.
- 2) Scheduling the observations: At the initial meeting, participants agree which lectures/classes they will attend in order to observe the other three participants. Some groups all attend the same classes, but scheduling does not always allow for this. Because the focus is on personal reflection (i.e., what can I learn from watching others teach), rather than on providing feedback or evaluation, it is not necessary for group members to attend the same classes.
- The observations themselves: Each participant observes the other three participants teaching and takes reflective notes on what they notice at each of these class observations. These notes are meant to guide the observers' thinking about their own teaching and how they might teach differently as a result of observing other people teach, rather than evaluative notes that become feedback for the observed.
- 4) Post-observation discussion: After all four TLC participants have observed each other's classes (usually over a 2-4 week timeframe), the group meets for a post-observation discussion. We encourage groups to meet over lunch or coffee, in order to create a relaxed and congenial environment for the reflective discussion. The resource pack provides a series of question prompts for individuals to reflect upon before they meet for the group discussion. The prompts include reflections on how one's teaching values have been challenged or affirmed through the observation process, what the observer might change in their own teaching as a result of having watched the others teach, and what the participants have learned about their own teaching from participating in a TLC. The group discussion, which can be (but doesn't have to be) led by a CAD facilitator, then centres around each individual's learning as a result of their participation.

When we introduced the TLC initiative at our university, we wanted to track participation and outcomes, so we sought funding from Ako Aotearoa to conduct an exploratory research project. The next section of this report outlines our research methods, and after that, we share what we found as a result of this research.

#### **Research Methods**

Our research project aimed to explore how 'Teaching and Learning Circles' affect teaching confidence, collegiality, support, reflective practice, enjoyment, and openness to enhancement. The guiding research question was: To what extent, or in what ways, does the Teaching and Learning Circles initiative influence teaching culture/s? We chose to explore this through questionnaires and interviews, described below. We received ethical approval from the Human Ethics Committee at Victoria University of Wellington to conduct this research (ref no: 26117).

## **Participants**

TLCs are voluntary. Participating in the research project associated with them was also voluntary. We recruited participants for TLCs by attending various Faculty Learning and Teaching Committee meetings, and School meetings, at which we gave brief presentations on the project, then followed up by email afterwards. Over the course of a year, 58 teachers expressed interest and applied to participate in a TLC. From those expressions of interest, 11 successful circles occurred with a total of 44 participants. Two further circles (comprising eight participants) were initiated but did not get off the ground for timetabling reasons, and six interested participants ended up unassigned to a circle due to scheduling difficulties.

Four of the TLCs were made up of participants from within single programmes: Law, Education, and the English Language Institute (x2). Seven were multi-disciplinary: School of English, Film, Theatre and Media Studies; School of Languages and Cultures (x2); School of Accounting and Commercial Law; School of Economics and Finance; Faculty of Health; and Faculty of Commerce. All TLC participants were invited (but not expected) to complete pre- and post-TLC questionnaires, and to be interviewed within six months.

#### **Questionnaires**

We used questionnaires to gauge participants' current level of engagement in various teaching activities, and to identify values relating to teaching. The questionnaire comprised 24 short statements reflecting different aspects of teaching culture, for example:

- I am a confident teacher (confidence).
- I engage in conversations about teaching with others in my programme and/or School (collegiality).
- I find it easy to give a lecture (competence).

All the statements from the questionnaire (it was the same pre and post) are reproduced in Appendix One.

Eighteen TLC participants completed a pre-questionnaire, but only seven completed a post-programme questionnaire. Not all those seven had completed a pre-questionnaire, so we were unable to use this pre-post data to see any patterns or shifts. Instead, we have used the pre-questionnaire to provide context for our interview findings (see more in the Findings section).

#### Interviews

Twelve participants (just under a third of all TLC participants) agreed to be interviewed for this exploratory research project, and a research assistant who had no prior involvement with the TLC initiative conducted eight individual interviews. We also held one group interview (with four participants). The research assistant also interviewed the two TLC facilitators, making a total of 14 interviewees. The questions are available in Appendix Two.

The research assistant then transcribed the interviews and removed names for analysis. She and one of the facilitators read through several of these transcripts individually, noting down key themes that seemed prevalent in each interview. Obviously, some of these themes came through because of the questions we asked (see Appendix Two),

but we also looked for more latent themes. We then compared notes and identified themes that had stood out to both of us. Then, we read through a new transcript together applying the common themes to our analysis of the new transcript and looking for any new themes. We coded each interview against these themes, noting how many participants spoke about each, and below we present the most prevalent themes. Where we provide participant quotations in this report, we have used pseudonyms.

## **Findings**

The key themes that came through in our interviews related to the following: motivations for joining a TLC; benefits of taking part; and challenges with participation (actual and potential) in TLCs. We describe what we found in detail, below.

## Motivations for joining a TLC

In order to encourage future participation by current and potential observers in future TLCs, it is important to try to understand the different reasons people have for participating. The participants we interviewed cited a range of reasons for signing up and came from a range of teaching backgrounds and experiences. Motivations varied depending on these backgrounds, and included being encouraged/invited by a colleague; wanting to learn more about teaching from more experienced colleagues, or to share experiences with junior colleagues; learning from how other teachers deal with our changing student population and changing technologies; and making time for professional development focused on teaching.

Our pre-questionnaire findings showed that TLC participants were confident teachers who enjoyed teaching (see Appendix Three). However, they were not necessarily actively engaged in professional development in teaching (half had not attended any teaching professional development in the previous three months), and they reported a lack of collegiality around teaching (only 17% strongly agreed before participating in the TLC that they felt well-supported in their teaching by colleagues within their programme or school). Moreover, the majority had not observed another teacher, or been observed by another teacher in the last 12 months.

At least half of the interviewees said they took part in a TLC because they were asked to join by a colleague. Participants had been approached by disciplinary colleagues setting up a circle or were encouraged by one of the facilitators at events run by the Centre for Academic Development. Some interviewees also saw their participation in a circle as an opportunity to be of service to their School. For example, Elspeth, chair of a School Learning and Teaching Committee, recognised the potential for TLCs to enact learning and teaching goals at the School-level:

This would be something good to prod the School towards strategic goals around being responsive to making sure that we're really keeping best practices for engaging our students and paying attention to our own skills as teachers. (Elspeth)

Several others cited students as their reason for joining a circle. For example, Althea claimed that, "Over the last five to six years, the whole classroom environment and student behaviours have changed, in my opinion, quite radically". She and other interviewees acknowledged that the changing student population means that teaching strategies that have worked in the past, may not anymore:

[Students] are changing fast and their interests are changing so fast, I think we have to keep asking ourselves, are we reaching them? What worked now is not going to be the thing that works next time. (Elspeth)

Participants were also motivated to take part in a TLC as a way to update their teaching skills, learn from colleagues, and adapt to the changing nature of student learning. As voluntary participants, they were already interested in finding ways to reflect on and develop their teaching, so it is important to think about how to attract participants who may not have contemplated this kind of professional development before. Almost all of the interviewees saw the circles as a professional development opportunity that was worthy of more formal recognition. They noted that having such participation formally recognised in promotion processes might provide motivation for colleagues less intrinsically interested in teaching development to consider participating. Other ways to appeal to less motivated colleagues may be to highlight the benefits of participating, which we turn our attention towards below.

## Benefits: Moving towards a more collegial teaching culture

One of the most significant benefits noted by TLC interviewees was an increase in collegiality. Different facets of this theme include: social connections between colleagues; reducing the isolation of teaching; sharing ideas; and more time to think and talk about teaching.

TLCs – where colleagues commit to spending at least four hours in each other's company – provide a unique social experience for which busy academic schedules do not often allow. As Althea noted, "People are so ridiculously busy that you don't often get a chance to sit and talk". Interviewees said that they appreciated the social experience of spending time with colleagues, helped by the informal setting of a lunch, coffee, or post–work gathering for the post–observation reflection. For newer teachers, the circles were an opportunity to "get to know other colleagues" (Audrey), while even those who had worked together for decades appreciated the time they could share together: "We do enjoy each other's company, but we don't get much of it." (Althea)

As Jimmy's quote below illustrates, collegiality is at the heart of a positive TLC experience, even for a very experienced and award-winning teacher (as Jimmy is):

The fact that we talked and shared things and so on, that for me was the best part of it. Getting closer to and knowing my colleagues better through that particular process and seeing that we can have this openness to talk about the things that we care about, it was non-judgemental but actually quite supportive. (Jimmy)

TLCs in two different multi-disciplinary Schools (one, a very new School, and one well-established) both highlighted the possibilities for collaboration as a result of watching colleagues teach. Participants in both circles claimed that the collegiality fostered by their TLC facilitated their functioning as a School or team:

I think [it's] really valuable across our school because we're such varied disciplines and quite varied teaching contexts, so really in addition to facilitating learning, it facilitates our functioning as a School, if we understand what each other is doing in a more 'on-the-ground' kind of way. (Elspeth)

The benefits of TLCs may vary based on participants' experience. For newer teachers, circles can increase confidence (as emphasised by participants in the Health and Commerce TLCs). More experienced teachers can have their expertise affirmed, such as Richie, who made the comment below:

[When] observing something not go well ... I guess it made me grateful for all the experiences that I've had where something similar had gone well. But it also reinforced for me why I don't do more of that. (Richie)

Even teachers with decades of experience found that they also learnt new things from colleagues and that the experience could "... do a lot to just broaden people's views of what you can do in a classroom, and why you might do it or not do it." (Althea)

As mentioned at the beginning of this report, for some busy academics, teaching can operate in a culture of isolation. Interviewees noted how infrequently they had observed colleagues teach, with the only opportunity for observation tied to formal evaluation or promotion contexts. Althea, who we cited at the beginning of this report, expressed a hope that the TLC initiative might create "an environment in which sharing things becomes the norm rather than something that you do six times in 27 years!" Likewise, a younger teacher noted that currently, "you just don't go to a core lecturer's class or a colleague's class and sit there. Nobody would do that" (Miles). However, the TLC experience can normalise observation and open up classrooms and teaching practice.

A different benefit of TLCs was that they formalised and carved out time for personal reflection and development. As Elspeth says:

I hate the phrase, but we really are time poor. And this hour, where I'm really not allowed to do anything else, to just be sitting there and reflecting on my teaching, I liked prioritising that for myself and having that sort of support. And because it's being run by CAD, I can think about it as professional development, it's not wasting time. (Elspeth)

A clear benefit of the TLC initiative, then, is that it enables academics to dedicate time to thinking about one's own teaching and discussing teaching with colleagues. This time spent thinking and talking also led to practical changes to participants' teaching practice, and we outline some of the benefits participants described in relation to their practice, below.

## Benefits: Making changes

Participants noted a number of practical changes and personal insights they had gained from TLC participation. Several interviewees said they had learned about new technologies by observing colleagues. For Audrey, this was particularly useful:

One of the problems that I have had over and over again is that when new technology comes online, I somehow never manage to get to any of the training sessions. So, picking them up through watching a colleague in action is a kind of alternative way. (Audrey)

Interviewees talked of observing very practical steps such as using resources from a shared drive, reviewing PowerPoint slides before lectures, and using students' names more as simple ways they could improve their teaching practice. They also observed a variety of different techniques for engaging students, such as new tools to sample student opinions, storytelling, and illustrating concepts with contemporary examples. Even experienced teachers who already used strategies to engage students found observing their colleagues was informative. For example, Elspeth describes witnessing a lecturer answer a student question from a new perspective:

I hadn't really been on the other side of that conversation, where as a lecturer you really, really try to engage with that student who's asking the question, but realising how that really cuts you off from the rest of the room. So that was

probably the biggest revelation for me. I always think, 'Oh, I'm engaging with the class.' No, I'm actually engaging with one student, and probably in the process losing contact with a lot of the class. (Elspeth)

The experience of observing a colleague can increase empathy, not just for the colleague being observed, but also by providing insights into the student experience. Several participants noted that simply sitting in a different place in the classroom provides a physically different perspective that can be eye-opening and help them to reflect more on what is happening for their own students.

It is encouraging that so many participants identified potential changes they could make to their teaching, and that they learned new techniques and developed more empathy for what students are experiencing. However, some participants pointed out that timing considerations may make it hard to implement potential changes based on what they've observed. As Richie notes:

It's actually quite hard to see something and then immediately act on it. We have these teaching obligations that are for these weeks and then in some cases you've got eleven months until you do the thing again. (Richie)

Not being able to implement new ideas immediately is one issue. Below we outline some other challenges that participants faced during their TLC experiences.

## **Challenges**

These challenges are helping to inform further implementation of TLCs at our institution and may be useful for others to consider if looking to adapt the TLC initiative to their own context.

#### What makes a successful circle?

Participants noted that the make-up of the circle was an important component of their experience. Factors that influence compatibility include level of experience and teaching context. Some interviewees, like Miles, saw potential value in having a mix of experience in the group but appreciated that their own circle members were close enough in experience level for the observations to have been particularly valuable. Miles is himself a relatively new academic, whose circle comprised only other early career academics, so it would be interesting in future to encourage him to participate in a circle with a mix of experience (i.e., a circle including some more senior colleagues). Another interviewee, Elspeth, was concerned that her more junior colleagues might gain less from the experience because power hierarchies might prevent them from sharing equally in discussions. For such reasons, it is important to allow for flexibility in the composition of the circles. We encourage everyone to participate at least twice: once with colleagues of similar experience levels, and once with a mixed group of experience. Such diversity can also be applied to the mix of disciplines.

Interviewees disagreed on the need for compatibility of teaching contexts. Some interviewees saw the greatest benefit for circles within similar subject areas. For example, Audrey claimed "I think it is probably good in your field, especially if you're a new teacher, you can get more ideas." On the other hand, some interviewees saw similar subject areas as a constraint, such as Althea:

If they're – as ours was – confined to very similar subject areas, then I think there is probably a limit to how useful that could be; once you've seen how other people are doing similar things there's not a lot of take-home from that. (Althea)

Other interviewees highlighted the benefit of observing outside their own subject area:

I think watching interdisciplinarily [sic] helped me identify some issues that I hadn't quite thought about, hadn't sort of articulated as a generic issue in teaching. (Elspeth)

One participant, who was not formally interviewed but who emailed through some feedback, stressed that she felt she would have gained far more from observing people beyond her own programme:

I would have much preferred having a circle that was outside my school. I think we probably tend to do things in a similar way in the school and I feel I would have gained a lot more from observing people who are in completely different disciplines. (Michelle)

Subject area is definitely not the key consideration in creating a TLC, however. As Richie noted, the content of the class was less relevant than the teaching challenge – such as the size of the class, the level of difficulty, or the way the teacher and students approach the material. More often problematic was the logistical challenge of compatible timetables.

#### Logistical challenges

Most interviewees identified time commitments as a challenge. Finding times for four academic staff to attend each other's classes can be particularly tricky:

Because we teach at different times it's really hard to find [time slots] ... there are only a few spaces where one can go and visit the other. (Gloria)

However, one interviewee stressed that there was no point in waiting for a time when colleagues aren't busy. Miles formed his own circle without CAD facilitation and noted that if he had waited until everyone was 'ready' it would never have happened:

They would say, 'Okay, give me time to get really prepared.' And that's just one easy way to kind of push it. And then when are you going to be really prepared? 'Maybe next trimester. Another trimester.' And then it never happens. (Miles)

Other interviewees pointed out that they greatly valued the facilitation from CAD as a way to overcome logistical hurdles at the beginning and to encourage firm commitment to the process along the way.

#### Purpose of observations

As noted earlier, very few participants had recently or ever undertaken any form of observation, so, quite understandably, there was some nervousness for a few participants about having their teaching observed by others. For example, three different interviewees worried about selecting a 'good' class to be observed. One participant "completely re-did [her] teaching plan" (Elspeth) because she thought the class would not be 'suitable' for others to observe (she thought it might have been too practical and not content-focussed enough). This raises interesting questions about unintentional effects that TLCs may have, and also highlights the importance for facilitators to stress that there is no such thing as a 'good' or 'bad' class for observation, because observers' focus is self-reflection.

Some interviewees worried about creating an 'unrealistic' environment for observation. For example, Althea was concerned that students might behave differently:

It doesn't matter how low-key you try to make it, students are always aware that there are observers in the class, so not sure that we were getting a hundred percent natural in-class behaviour. (Althea)

However, given that the focus of TLCs is self-reflection for the observers (not judgement of the teacher under observation), students' behaviour in response to observers being present does not preclude useful reflection.

The tension between self-reflection and feedback was evident in a couple of interviews. In particular, one participant completely misinterpreted the purpose of the TLCs, and expressed dissatisfaction that the programme was not geared around peer feedback:

I had prepared extensive notes from my own observations of two others but only one of them wanted to take them away. It was not discussed in terms of specifics. I was not provided with any written feedback and only general affirmative comments about my own teaching. (Barbara)

In contrast, most other interviewees recognised that the focus of the initiative was reflection rather than feedback, but still struggled to maintain this focus in both observations and discussion. Elspeth noted the difficulty of reflection when presented with the allure of a new topic:

We're interested in learning and we're interested in teaching and it's really delicious to go into some field you don't know anything about and learn some stuff about it. And, it's easy to get distracted by that stuff, whereas the goal of this exercise is more to be reflecting on my own teaching. So, that was my main challenge, struggling with that. (Elspeth)

Likewise, participants struggled with their own and others' desire for feedback. Richie noted that "It's very natural to go, 'Oh that didn't go so well.'" Miles reflected that "Your colleagues may not actually highlight the parts you need to improve that much, because they don't want you to feel bad about yourself" but reassured himself that "... if you're smart enough, you can also pick up what you're not doing that they're doing." Rogers, et al (2019) write of similar challenges in balancing the desire for feedback with the focus on self-reflection, and this is something that we will look at more deeply in future research.

#### **Process**

#### Benefits of facilitation

Interviewees were unequivocal in stressing to the research assistant how beneficial the facilitation provided by the Centre for Academic Development (CAD) was to the functioning and outcomes of their TLCs. Two different CAD staff (the first two authors of this report) between them facilitated the majority of the pre-observation discussions (only one TLC went ahead without a CAD facilitator for the pre-observation meeting). Several TLCs also had one of the CAD team facilitate their post-observation discussion. Interviewees identified three areas in which the CAD facilitation was helpful: supporting and advocating for the initiative, guiding the initial observation focus, and discussing reflections as a group.

Participants saw support and facilitation, whether from CAD or elsewhere in future (such as the school's Learning and Teaching Committee), as essential for TLCs' development and impetus. For example, Althea noted that:

Someone needs to sponsor it. That could be a Learning and Teaching committee within a school, there's no problem with that, but if we just sort of talk about it vaguely and wait for it to happen I think we'll be waiting a long time. (Althea)

Facilitation in the pre-observation meeting is also very important for managing expectations, such as clarifying the purpose as self-reflection, not evaluation. Facilitation at that early stage can also help TLC members to decide on a focus for observations:

[In future] I would like to think about focusing our observation towards a couple of target areas ... as a way of guiding the observation: 'Oh that's so interesting I want to pay attention to that' ... Especially if you're going interdisciplinary – it's hard to know, yeah, what do you reflect on? (Elspeth)

Facilitation can also balance potential hierarchies in group discussions, especially among colleagues with different levels of seniority:

I think a facilitated discussion is really helpful. Even though everybody's really generous and interested, there's too many pressures in terms of the clear hierarchical structure. A facilitated discussion, formulating a goal and then reflecting back on what was valuable, I think is just really helpful. (Elspeth)

#### Where to next?

Several interviewees mentioned strategies for increasing uptake and scaling up the initiative. Audrey suggested that representatives who had already participated could present the TLC initiative at seminars. Miles recommended collecting testimonials from participants, and Jimmy likewise suggested former participants should act as ambassadors.

Resolving logistical challenges, such as scheduling observations earlier in the trimester was cited in three interviews as a means for increasing rates of participation. Interviewees also noted that emphasising the professional development benefits of participation (such as adding to a teaching portfolio or promotion application) would increase interest. A few interviewees highlighted the possibility of subsequent circles to expand across schools, or to progress with a targeted focus, such as use of technology or teaching first year classes:

Going forward there may well be a circle that's focussed, that's more targeted, for example engaging first year lecturers. (Richie)

#### Conclusions and recommendations

A TLC is, in our experience, an easily implementable, highly beneficial professional development teaching activity that does not require huge amounts of effort from facilitators or participants, but has great outcomes. This confirms prior research on such initiatives elsewhere (Bell, 2001; Bell & Cooper 2013; Berenson 2017; Haave 2018; Hendry, et al., 2014; Hubball, Collins & Pratt 2005; Martin & Double 1998; Rhem 2003). Returning to our research question – 'To what extent, or in what ways, does the Teaching and Learning Circles initiative influence teaching culture/s?' – it is clear that for our participants, there was a positive shift in participants' sense of isolation around teaching, and many made positive changes to their individual teaching practice. For the joy of collaboration alone, we will certainly continue to encourage and facilitate the formation of TLCs as an ongoing activity at our university. We are less certain about claiming incontrovertible evidence of influence on teaching culture more broadly, as we

do not yet have enough data from the pre- and post-programme questionnaires, and the number of interviewees was low (although acceptable for exploratory research). However, our interview findings give us confidence that we are on the right track. In the next iteration of TLCs, we will work on encouraging better participation in the pre- and post-questionnaires to help participants take better advantage of their reflective teaching observation experiences, as well as for us to collect more data. We also hope to look at whether there are differences in multi-disciplinary and single-discipline TLCs or if the benefits accrue for any combination of participants. In the meantime, we lay out below some recommendations for others considering implementing a TLCs initiative at their own institution.

## Be clear about the purpose

It is important to emphasise that the purpose of TLCs is to reflect on one's own teaching, not to pass judgement on what others do. The emphasis on 'reflection, not judgement' can be stressed by the facilitator in the pre-observation meeting, but if groups wish to go ahead without facilitation, we have also redesigned the resource pack (available for free download and adaptation) to emphasise this even more. Feedback may well be a helpful by-product of the post-observation group discussions (as it indeed was for some of our participants), and as it clearly was for many participants in the TLC initiative at Otago (Rogers, et al., 2019). But, if giving feedback becomes the *focus* of TLCs, it may be harder to encourage more sceptical or nervous colleagues to participate in future iterations. If potential participants think they are going to be judged, they may be less willing to commit to the process. There are other forms of peer observation that focus on the provision of feedback, and the TLCs are not in competition with them but instead provide an alternative.

## Encourage 'snowballing'

In order for the benefits of TLCs to be felt more widely, we are undertaking a 'snowball' approach at our university this year, where we are encouraging and working with people who participated in a TLC last year to establish a new TLC with different colleagues. Already one school Learning and Teaching Committee chair, who participated in a cross-disciplinary TLC last year, is setting up a new TLC in her school, with new participants from each of the school's programmes. She will facilitate the preprogramme discussion herself and has asked CAD to facilitate the post-programme discussion. Participants from another TLC in a different school have committed to shoulder-tapping different colleagues to set up three new TLCs across their School, with members at different levels on the academic career ladder. Their first TLC involved a programme head and three very new academics; each of the new TLCs will include a balance of senior and junior colleagues.

#### Be realistic about timing

Our TLC groups variously experienced challenges in scheduling their observations. In general, we found that those groups who committed to finalising an observation timetable at the pre-observation meeting (usually with firm prompting from the facilitator) were more successful at having all group members observe all other group members. Where TLC participants were unable to pin down the observation timetable in person at that first meeting, it became much more difficult to ensure attendance by all participants at all observations. This was particularly pronounced the further into the

trimester the group was set up. We encourage groups to try to meet before the trimester begins, or very early in the trimester, and to conclude their observations before the realities of marking and course administration become heavier as the trimester progresses. We also found that completing all observations over a shorter time period (2-3 weeks) was often more beneficial than spreading the observations out over a longer timeframe. Participants were better able to recall what they had observed and reflected upon when condensing the reflection into a shorter time period.

#### Adaptation elsewhere

We are encouraged by the strong interest already shown in adapting the TLCs concept elsewhere. After a joint presentation with our University of Otago colleagues at the Higher Education Research and Development Society of Australasia (HERDSA) Conference in Auckland in July 2019 (Rogers & Sutherland, et al., 2019), several conference attendees contacted us about adapting TLCs for their own institutions. Consequently, we are aware that the concept has already been taken up, and our resource pack adapted by, the School of Medical and Health Sciences and the Western Australian Academy of Performing Arts, both at Edith Cowan University, as well as by the School of Education and the Arts at Central Queensland University, and the First Year College at Victoria University in Australia. A presentation at the Ako Aotearoa Central Hub research-in-progress colloquium in October (Sutherland, 2019), also led to the initiative being adapted by teaching development practitioners at the Universal College of Learning (UCoL) in early 2020. We are happy for other institutions to contact us for further information or to download and adapt the resource pack for their own use. We would love to hear how TLCs go at your institution!

## **Appendix One: Questionnaire Statements**

Scale 1=Strongly Agree, 2=Agree, 3=Neither Agree nor Disagree, 4=Disagree, 5=Strongly Disagree

- 1) I am a confident teacher
- 2) I am confident with using digital technologies in my teaching
- 3) I am confident with engaging students in active learning within my lectures
- 4) I find it easy to give a lecture
- 5) I am experimental with my teaching
- 6) I engage in conversations about teaching with others in my programme and/or School
- 7) I know who to ask if I need help with teaching
- 8) I feel well-supported in my teaching by colleagues within my programme and/or School
- 9) Teaching is discussed at staff meetings
- 10) I feel comfortable having others observe my teaching
- 11) Separate from this TLC process, I have observed other colleagues teaching in the last 12 months
- 12) Separate from this TLC process, one or more of my colleagues has observed my teaching in the last 12 months
- 13) At times, I find teaching stressful
- 14) I feel as if I spend too much time on teaching
- 15) lenjoy teaching
- 16) I am passionate about teaching
- 17) It is worthwhile investing time in teaching
- 18) I am a member of Vic Teach
- 19) In the last 12 months, I actively sought to read about teaching
- 20) I have attended a teaching-related professional development event (other than this TLC) in the last three months
- 21) I implement changes in my teaching based on feedback I receive from students
- 22) I meet regularly with my class rep/s
- 23) Students' voices are prominent in my classrooms
- 24) I gather informal feedback (outside the formal student evaluation process) on my teaching from students

## **Appendix Two: Interview questions**

- 1) What made you want to take part in a TLC?
- 2) Please describe the benefits you experienced from participating in the TLC initiative.
- 3) Please describe the biggest challenges you faced participating in the TLC initiative.
- 4) Have you noticed any differences in the teaching culture of your programme/Faculty as a result of the TLC initiative?
- 5) Have you changed any aspect of your teaching practice as a result of your participation in the TLC?

# Appendix Three: Pre-Programme Survey Results

Scale 1=Strongly Agree, 2=Agree, 3=Neither Agree nor Disagree, 4=Disagree, 5=Strongly Disagree

		Mean	% Strongly Agree/ % Agree	Count
1	I am a confident teacher	1.78	22/78	18
2	I am confident with using digital technologies in my teaching	2.06	11/78	18
3	I am confident with engaging students in active learning within my lectures	2.00	29/47	17
4	I find it easy to give a lecture	2.41	24/29	17
5	I am experimental with my teaching	2.17	6/78	18
6	I engage in conversations about teaching with others in my programme and/or School	2.06	22/61	18
7	I know who to ask if I need help with teaching	1.83	33/56	18
8	I feel well-supported in my teaching by colleagues within my programme and/or School	2.39	17/39	18
9	Teaching is discussed at staff meetings	2.83	6/44	18
10	I feel comfortable having others observe my teaching	2.40	20/33	15
11	Separate from this TLC process, I have observed other colleagues teaching in the last 12 months	3.22	11/33	18
12	Separate from this TLC process, one or more of my colleagues has observed my teaching in the last 12 months	3.65	6/24	17
13	At times, I find teaching stressful	2.22	11/67	18
14	I feel as if I spend too much time on teaching	2.94	6/28	18
15	I enjoy teaching	1.33	67/33	18
16	I am passionate about teaching	1.39	67/28	18
17	It is worthwhile investing time in teaching	1.28	72/28	18
18	I am a member of Vic Teach	3.56	11/17	18
19	In the last 12 months, I actively sought to read about teaching	2.27	33/40	15
20	I have attended a teaching-related professional development event (other than this TLC) in the last 3 mths	3.00	11/39	18
21	I implement changes in my teaching based on feedback I receive from students	1.72	44/39	18
22	I meet regularly with my class rep/s	3.06	12/29	17
23	Students' voices are prominent in my classrooms	2.00	35/41	17
24	I gather informal feedback (outside the formal student evaluation process) on my teaching from students	2.17	22/56	18

#### References

- Bell, M. (2001). Supported reflective practice: a programme of peer observation and feedback for academic teaching development. International Journal for Academic Development, 6(1), 29–39. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13601440110033643.
- Bell, M. & Cooper, P. (2013). Peer observation of teaching in university departments: a framework for implementation. International Journal for Academic Development, 13(1), 60-73. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/1360144X.2011.633753.
- Berenson, C. (2017). Teaching Squares: Observe and Reflect on Teaching and Learning. https://taylorinstitute.ucalgary.ca/resources/teaching-squares-observe-and-reflect-teaching-and-learning.
- Haave, N. (2018). Teaching Squares Bring Cross-Disciplinary Perspectives. https://www.facultyfocus.com/articles/faculty-development/teaching-squares-cross-disciplinary-perspectives/
- Hendry, G., Bell, A., & Thomson, K. (2014). Learning by observing a peer's teaching situation, International Journal for Academic Development, 19 (4), 318–329. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/1360144X.2013.848806.
- Hubball, H., Collins, J., & Pratt, D. (2005). Enhancing reflective teaching practices: Implications for faculty development programs. The Canadian Journal of Higher Education, 35 (3), 57-81. http://journals.sfu.ca/cjhe/index.php/cjhe/article/view/183514.
- Macfarlane, B. (2016). Collegiality and performativity in a competitive academic culture. Higher Education Review, 48(2), 31–50.
- Martin, G.A. & Double, J.M. (1998). Developing Higher Education Teaching Skills Through Peer Observation and Collaborative Reflection, Innovations in Education and Training International, 35(2), 161–170. DOI: 10.1080/1355800980350210.
- Matear, S. (2017). Thematic notes: Teaching Quality, Development and Excellence. https://www.aqa.ac.nz/ThematicNotes.
- Rhem, J. (2003). Teaching Squares. The National Teaching and Learning Forum, 13 (1), 1-3. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1002/ntlf.10073.
- Rogers, T., Sutherland, K., Tennent, E., Timmermans, J., Wass, R., Golding, C., & Elgort, I. (2019). Teaching and Learning Circles: An initiative aimed at enhancing teaching culture and practice. A presentation at the Higher Education Research and Development Society of Australasia (HERDSA) Conference, 4 July 2019, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Rogers, T., Wass, R., Timmermans, J., & Golding, C. (2019). A framework for enhancing teaching culture and practice. Wellington: Ako Aotearoa. https://ako.ac.nz/assets/Knowledge-centre/Teaching-and-learning-circles-Aframework-for-enhancing-teaching-culture-and-practice/d436c8e8e5/Teaching-and-Learning-Circles-report.pdf.
- Sibai, O., Figueiredo, B. & Ferreira, M.C. (2019). Overworked and isolated: the rising epidemic of loneliness in academia. The Conversation, January 2019. https://theconversation.com/overworked-and-isolated-the-rising-epidemic-of-loneliness-in-academia-110009.
- Sutherland, K.A. (2017). Constructions of success in academia: an early career perspective. Studies in Higher Education, 42(4), 743-759.

- https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/03075079.2015.1072150.
- Sutherland, K.A. (2018a) Teaching, research, and service activities and preferences in the work lives of New Zealand early career academics. pp. 59-93 in Early Career Academics in New Zealand: Challenges and Prospects in Comparative Perspective. Springer, Cham. https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-61830-2\_4.
- Sutherland, K.A. (2018b). Cultivating connectedness and generosity in universities: A view of early career academic experiences in Aotearoa New Zealand. On Education, 1(3). https://www.oneducation.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/10.17899\_on\_ed.2018.3.8.pdf.
- Sutherland, K.A. (2019). Teaching and Learning Circles: Developing reflective practice and enhancing teaching culture. A presentation at the Ako Aotearoa Project Fund Colloquium Central Region. 9 October 2019. Palmerston North.
- Universities New Zealand (2018). University Teaching Quality.
- https://www.universitiesnz.ac.nz/sites/default/files/University%20Teaching%20Qualit y%20%28March%202018%29.pdf